No. 43704-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 09-2-14216-1)

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

CONNIE BACON, et al., and PORT OF TACOMA,

Respondents

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Stephanie M. R. Bird Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501

206-812-3144 Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

As this Court knows, Plaintiff and Appellant Mr. Arthur West is a frequent pro se litigant whose efforts have resulted in precedent setting cases. *See* <u>West v. Port of Olympia</u>, 146 Wn. App. 108, 192 P.3d 926 (2008) (limitations on applications of deliberative process exemption to PRA); <u>West v. Thurston County</u>, 144 Wn. App. 573, 183 P.3d 46 (2008) (retroactive application of amendment to PRA concerning attorney billing invoices for legal services provided to public entities); <u>West v.</u> <u>Washington Association of County Officials</u>, 162 Wn. App. 120, 252 P.3d 406 (2011) (WACO was a public agency for purposes of the Open Public Meetings Act); and <u>West v. Secretary of Transportation</u>, 206 F.3d 920 (9th Cir. 2000). But as this Court also knows, Mr. West's litigation has angered and alienated the bar and bench. His conduct has, at times, crossed the line, and he has been subject to sanctions and to bar orders, and has been named a vexatious litigant.

In other words, Mr. West is a gadfly – a "person who stimulates or annoys esp. by persistent criticism." Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary (10th ed. 2000). At his best, Mr. West "stimulates," by making meritorious claims that, by dint of Mr. West's persistence and intelligence, result in the establishment of precedent. At his worst, Mr. West "annoys" by bringing lawsuits where he fails to state a claim for which relief can be granted, in the wrong forum, at the wrong time, and against the wrong people.

The question that faces the courts where Mr. West litigates can be paraphrased from a famous Broadway musical: "How do you solve a problem like [Mr. West]?" *The Sound of Music*, R. Rodgers & O. Hammerstein (1959). The answer, of course, is to apply the law to him. Where Mr. West makes a meritorious claim, let him exercise his constitutional right of access to the courts. Where Mr. West does not, dismiss his case. Where a court finds it necessary to <u>limit</u> Mr. West's constitutional right of access, it must do so in a manner that still <u>preserves</u> that right of access.

Here, in this case, Mr. West made several meritorious Public Record Act claims against Defendant and Respondent the Port of Tacoma. Mr. West also undertook objectionable actions, for which he was sanctioned. The Port moved for dismissal and the Trial Court dismissed Mr. West's case. The problem is that the Trial Court erred in applying the law to Mr. West and dismissing his case. This Court should reverse and remand.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PERTAINING THERETO

- 1. The Trial Court erred in making Finding of Fact 13: "Mr. West also included a Public Records Act complaint in this present suit, which duplicates the requests made in his first PRR case. See West Complaint at para 4.12." Where both parties agreed at oral argument on July 26. 2010, on the Port of Tacoma's motion to dismiss heard on that date that only "prong one" of Mr. West's public records request at issue in this present suit was duplicative, while prongs two, three, and four were not, and where the Trial Court dismissed only the public records act claims arising out of prong one of Mr. West's public records act claims arising out of that the public records act complaint in this present suit duplicates the requests made in the previous suit? Yes.
- 2. The Trial Court erred in making Finding of Fact 19: "The Court also found Mr. West in contempt at that hearing, and ultimately awarded terms against Mr. West in the amount of \$1,500 payable to the Port of Tacoma. The Court conditioned further proceedings in the case on Mr. West's payment of those terms." Where the terms were awarded not because the Trial Court found Mr. West in contempt, but because the Trial Court dismissed claims arising out

of prong one of Mr. West's public records request as being duplicative of a request at issue in a previous lawsuit, was it error to find that the imposition of terms was a sanction for contempt? Yes.

3. The Trial Court erred in making finding of fact 40. "As a consequence of these 'detours' Plaintiff pursued related to this case, i.e., filing three separate lawsuits in federal and state legal forums, the Port through its taxpayers was required to spend money to defend against each. The price the Port paid for Mr. West's forays into the various courts as he unsuccessfully attempted to avoid this Court's Order is no small sum: *Arthur West v. Port of Tacoma*, Case No. 0-2-042312-1 (Pierce County Super. Ct.): 555.5 hrs. Attorney fees: \$146,984.50 and Costs: \$17,160.40.

Arthur West v. Brian Chushcoff, David Edwards, Fredrick Flemming [sic], 'Special Prosecutor Lake, Connie Bacon, Richard Marzano, Don Johnson, Clare Petrich, Don Meyer, Terry Willis, Mark Wilson, Al Carter. Grays Harbor County, Pierce County, Maytown Sand and Gravel, LLC, Sam Reed, Port of Tacoma, Case No. C10-5547-RBL (W.D. Wash.): 46.3 hrs. Attorney fees: \$12,119.00. Costs: \$240.27. In re Personal Restrain [sic] of Arthur West by Port of Tacoma and Grays Harbor, Case No. 84837-8 (Wash. 2011): 52.9 hrs. Attorney fees: \$10,979.50 Costs: \$131.28. Where <u>West v. Port of Tacoma</u>, Pierce County Cause No. 08-2-042312-1 was filed, prosecuted, and then put on hold by Mr. West all before this present suit was filed, was it error to conclude that the attorney fees and costs in that case should be counted as part

of the "price the Port paid for Mr. West's forays into the various courts as he unsuccessfully attempted to avoid this Court's Order"? Yes.

4. The Trial Court erred in making finding of fact 41: "The combined totals paid by the Port of Tacoma for these West matter [sic] came to: Attorney fees: \$170,083.00 Costs: \$17,531.95. See Decl. of Lake, subjoined to Port's Reply in Support of Dismissal filed June 11, 2012. Where the fees and costs incurred in <u>West v. Port of Tacoma</u>, Pierce County Cause No. 08-2-042312-1 should not be counted as part of the "price the Port paid for Mr. West's forays into the various courts as he unsuccessfully attempted to avoid this Court's Order", is not the actual sum \$23,098.50 in attorney fees and \$371.55 in costs?

- 5. The Trial Court erred in concluding as a matter of law that the case should be dismissed pursuant to CR 41(b)(1) for want of prosecution. Where Mr. West had moved for a trial setting date before the Port of Tacoma filed its motion to dismiss, did Mr. West cure any failure to prosecute? Yes.
- 6. The Trial Court erred in finding that Mr. West had disobeyed the order imposing terms of \$1,500 on Mr. West, payable to the Port of Tacoma, when Mr. West paid the terms to the Port of Tacoma. Where an order imposing terms and conditioning further participation in the lawsuit upon payment of those terms contains no time frame within which to pay the terms, is not payment of the terms compliance with the order; does it not purge the sanction? Yes.
- 7. The Trial Court erred in concluding that Mr. West's pursuit of closely-related litigation in Federal Court and in the Supreme Court was a basis for dismissal in this case. Where Mr. West's pursuit of closely-related litigation in Federal Court and in the Supreme Court already resulted in stringent and harsh sanctions against him the imposition of a bar order against him does not the conclusion that the pursuit of closely-related litigation is a basis for dismissal in this case actually operate as an

impermissible limitation on Mr. West's constitutional right of access to the courts? Yes..

- 8. The Trial Court erred in concluding that Mr. West's actions substantially prejudiced the Port of Tacoma. Where a public agency responding to a public records request controls its own response, does any delay by the requestor that might result in an additional number of penalty days operate as prejudice against the public agency? No. Does the accrual of attorney fees and costs constitute prejudice? No.
- 9. The Trial Court erred in concluding that lesser sanctions would not have sufficed. Where Mr. West already was sanctioned for objectionable conduct and undertook no new objectionable conduct thereafter, was the conclusion that lesser sanctions would not have sufficed not in error? Yes.
- 10. The Trial Court erred in dismissing Mr. West's case pursuant to its own inherent powers and for failing to obey a court order under CR 41(b). Where there is no disobedience of a court order and no prejudice, is there a basis for dismissal? No. Where the sanction of dismissal is made without regard for the facts or circumstances of the case, and where Mr. West had not undertaken any additional

objectionable conduct beyond that for which he was already sanctioned, is dismissal an abuse of discretion? Yes.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case where the Plaintiff and Appellant, Arthur West, brought multiple Public Record Act claims against the Defendant and Respondent the Port of Tacoma. CP 1-6.¹

Early on in the case, Mr. West obtained a show cause order directing the Port to appear and show cause why it should not be found in violation of Chapter 42.56 RCW. This hearing did not take place. Thereafter, Mr. West noted up a motion for leave to amend his complaint (even though such a motion was unnecessary under CR 15(a); the Port had filed no answer to Mr. West's complaint (CP 26) and Mr. West might file an amended complaint as a matter of right) and also to obtain another

¹ Mr. West's complaint also sought a writ of mandamus directed at the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney Mark Lindquist, concerning another Pierce County Superior Court judge, the Honorable Frederick Fleming. This claim was correctly dismissed by the Trial Court early on in the case and is not at issue here. CP 434-435.

show cause order. CP 13, CP 14-17. Unfortunately, Mr. West noted this hearing for a date (May 10, 2010) when the Port's counsel, Ms. Carolyn Lake, was unavailable. CP 19-21. Ms. Lake was also counsel of record for the Port of Olympia (not a party to this case), and in her capacity as counsel for the Port of Olympia, she had served Mr. West with a notice of unavailability (in a different case) that covered the date in question, May 10, 2010. CP 19; CP 23-24.

In opposing Mr. West's motion for a show cause order and for leave to amend his complaint, the Port argued that Mr. West's "records request and the Port's response is all subsumed within the Public Records Act litigation Mr. West filed in Pierce County Cause No. 08-2-043121-1, which is on-going. Because all public record act issues raised by West within this new litigation are already included within his existing records act suit, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear these issues....The Port will file a Motion to dismiss the matter entirely shortly." CP 35-36.

At the hearing on May 10 on Mr. West's motion for a show cause order and leave to amend his complaint, the record reflects the following:

THE COURT: Is anyone here from the Port of Tacoma? Did you – did you give notice to anyone? MR. WEST: Yes, Your Honor. There's a declaration of service right there. I personally placed into the Port counsel's hands a notice of issue and motion on April 30th.

Furthermore, your own court administrator [from Grays Harbor Superior Court; the Honorable David Edwards of Grays Harbor Superior Court was serving as visiting judge in this Pierce County action] sent a letter to all parties on May 5th indicating that this hearing was taking place and giving them direction to appear. It says, please be present at that time –

THE COURT: Just a second. Just a second. Okay, just a second.

(Brief pause in proceedings.) THE COURT: All right. I signed the order of show cause scheduling a hearing for June 7 at 3:00 p.m. in this.

RP 05-10-10, pp. 3-4, ll. 12-25, ll. 1-3. The order of show cause also allowed Mr. West to amend his complaint. CP 237. Of course, Mr. West's motion for leave to amend his complaint and the order allowing the amendment were both unnecessary pursuant to CR 15(a), since the Port had not filed an answer. CP 26.

The Port filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Trial Court's order allowing amendment of the complaint (not the order of show cause) combined with a Motion to Dismiss. CP 238-256. The Port argued that "[t]he records request and the Port's response is all subsumed within the Public Records Act litigation Mr. West filed in Pierce County Cause No. 08-2-04312101, which is on-going. Because all public record act issues raised by West within this new litigation are already included within his existing records act suit, this Court *lacks jurisdiction* to hear these issues.

Accordingly, the Port urges this Court to deny the show cause and any motion to amend." CP 244.

The Port also filed a Brief in Response to the Show Cause Order. CP 257-265. The Port's argument was that it had complied with the requirements of the public records act. CP 265. Mr. West filed a hearing brief where he argued that "In regard to at least four separate groups of records, defendant Port of Tacoma has failed to make reasonable estimates of the time required for disclosure, has failed to reasonably disclose public records in accord with its own estimates, has asserted overbroad and inapplicable exemptions, and has unreasonably delayed disclosure...". CP 289-292, *quote from* CP 289-290.

At the next hearing, on June 18, 2010, the Trial Court first asked Mr. West about the May 10 hearing:

> THE COURT:....it appeared that [Mr. West] had been informed by counsel for the Port that she was unavailable to attend hearing that day. You didn't bring that to my attention. Not that that prevents you from scheduling motions, but I think in the spirit of being forthright with the Court you had an obligation to let me know that you had communicated with counsel for the defendants and counsel indicated an unavailability to you....

MR. WEST: Yes, Your Honor. Briefly, I apologize if the Court was – believes it was misled. I had thought that the Port's communications with the court administrator had been communicated to the Court, which there were extensive communications about that. I responded correctly that there had been no response and I would believe that was correct. I wasn't intending to mislead anyone.

The hearing was set by the court administrator by a letter that was delivered to myself and the Port, as I noted at the hearing.

RP 06-18-2010, pp. 6-7, ll. 1-8, 17-25, 1. The Trial Court vacated the order entered on May 10, 2010, and "all the relief granted in that order." RP 06-18-2010, p. 7, l. 14; CP 288.

Meanwhile, the Port's pending Motion to Dismiss was re-set for July 26, 2010. Mr. West filed a response (which he called a "reply"), where he argued that the records sought in this present action were different than the ones sought in the previous action: "Since the records that plaintiff seeks disclosure of in this matter are different from those at issue in the case that Judge Fleming refuses to enter a final order in, there is no identity of subject matter or relief, and absolutely no possibility of any res judicata effect of a ruling in the previous case." CP 304-308, *quote from* CP 306. In Mr. West's response, he also argued that he had had significant procedural difficulties in prosecuting the case, including the fact that the "Pierce County clerk refused to file the Show Cause Order signed by this Court." CP 305. Mr. West also re-filed his hearing brief. CP 309-312. The Port filed its reply (which it called a "response") in support of its motion to dismiss. CP 317-338.

At the hearing on July 26, 2010, the first matter that the Trial Court

considered was the proposed order, filed by the Port, striking the May 10

order. The record shows that Mr. West initially did not understand the

Trial Court's query about any objections to the proposed order:

THE COURT: Mr. West, stop. You either are refusing to listen to what I am saying or you are not understanding what I am saying.

The order that has been presented by counsel for the port.

MR. WEST: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Reflects the court's ruling on May 10th, which set aside or vacated an order to show cause. It doesn't dismiss your complaint, it sets aside the show cause order that was entered for the reasons that proper notice was not given to counsel for the Port.

MR. WEST: But - thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So, either address your specific issues regarding the form of this order, or I am going to sign it.

MR. WEST: Thank you. If I could have a minute.

THE COURT: Mr. West, what are your objections, if any?

MR. WEST: Um, I object to number 14. I object to –

THE COURT: Basis for your objection.

MR. WEST: Um, that I did file an objection and that, oh - so, yeah, I am sorry. This order doesn't appear to have the rest of the stuff in there. So most of these I agree with them, Your Honor, I don't have any objection. This accurately reflects your rulings on the show cause order. Sorry about that.

RP 07-26-2010, pp. 2-4, ll. 17-26, 1-7, 17-25, 1-2. The Trial Court signed the order vacating the May 10, 2010 order. RP 07-26-2010, p. 4, ll. 3-4. CP 340-344.

Next, the Trial Court considered the Port's motion to dismiss, where the Port argued that Mr. West's public records requests were duplicative of the ones at issue in the previous lawsuit. At oral argument, both Mr. West and the Port agreed that while "prong one" of his public records request was duplicative, prongs two, three, and four were not. RP 07-26-2010, p. 10, ll. 12-18; RP 07-26-2010, p. 12, ll. 2-6. In concluding his argument, Mr. West asked the Trial Court to set a hearing date on a pending motion for reconsideration. RP 07-26-2010, pp. 13-14, ll. 24-25, 1-3. The Trial Court explained that this was procedurally incorrect, and was interrupted by Mr. West:

THE COURT: Mr. West, the court does not schedule hearings on motions filed by parties, parties schedule hearings on motions they file. So, if you wish to have a hearing on any motions you have filed, you need to file an appropriate notice of hearing and provide appropriate notice to opposing counsel –

MR. WEST: There is another thing, Your Honor. THE COURT: Do not interrupt me again; do you understand?

RP 07-26-2010, p. 14, ll. 4-12.

The Trial Court announced its decision:

THE COURT:Here is what we are going to do today. I am going to grant, in part, the Port's motion to dismiss. Any portion of the litigation relating to the Public Records Act, that relies upon the failure to disclose records that are the subject of the previously filed lawsuit in Pierce County under cause number 08-2-4312-1, will be dismissed.

Because Mr. West has caused the Port to have to respond to the same litigation a second time, in part, the Port is entitled to terms, and I am going to impose monetary terms of \$1,500, which must be paid before Mr. West can proceed further in this litigation –

MR. WEST: I would like to object and state that this is a violation of my civil rights.

THE COURT: Mr. West, you are now in contempt of court. So now we are going to have a hearing next Monday at 8:30 a.m., to determine sanctions for your contempt, and if there are further hearings which need to be held in this case, they may only be held if they are on the plaintiff's motion after terms are paid, and upon proper notice of hearing.

RP 07-26-2010, pp. 14-15, ll. 22-25, 1-17. To be clear, the Trial Court set

the \$1500 terms against Mr. West because he "caused the Port to have to

respond to the same litigation a second time." RP 07-26-2010, p. 15, ll. 4-

5. The Trial Court found Mr. West in contempt of court because he

interrupted the Trial Court for the second time. RP 07-26-2010, p. 15, II.

7-12.

Mr. West did not attend the hearing "next Monday at 8:30 a.m.",

August 2, 2010. RP 08-2-2010, p. 16. The Trial Court signed the

"proposed finding of contempt, the findings of fact and conclusions of

law." RP 08-2-2010, p. 17, ll. 2-3; CP 356-358. The Trial Court made

findings of fact that Mr. West was in attendance at the 26 July hearing, that he apparently disagreed with the rulings of the Trial Court, that he interrupted the Trial Court during the court's rulings, that the Trial Court warned Mr. West not to interrupt at least once, that Mr. West became agitated and continued to interrupt the Trial Court and speak over the Trial Court while the court was ruling, and that Mr. West's behavior was disorderly, insolent to the Trial Court, and disrupted the hearing. CP 357. The Trial Court made conclusions of law that concluded that punitive, not remedial, sanctions were warranted against Mr. West. CP 359. The Trial Court also set the matter on the docket "for next Monday at 8:30 for presentation of orders regarding the motion to dismiss." RP 08-02-2010, p. 17, ll. 6-8.

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