FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2013 JUN 19 PM 2: 49

43704-0-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DEPUTY OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

PORT OF TACOMA, et al.

Respondents.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PORT OF TACOMA

CAROLYN A. LAKE, WSBA #13980 SETH GOODSTEIN, WSBA #45091 Attorneys for Respondent Port of Tacoma Goodstein Law Group, PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000

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

conference. *Link*, 370 U.S. at 627. The afternoon prior to the conference, counsel first informed the court that he might have a conflicting deposition to attend. *Id*. Counsel phoned the morning of the conference and still prior to the conference, and confirmed to the court that the he would not attend, and suggested two make-up dates that same week, including the following day. *Id*. Despite this, the *Link* court dismissed the case just two hours after the scheduled status conference. *Id*. at 628-629.

Here, the *Link* plaintiff's conduct pales in comparison to that of the instant Appellant. The Appellant's brief speaks for itself in attesting to the Appellant's vexatious conduct. First, the Appellant self-describes this case as all of "difficult to explain," "grasping at straws," and "flailing around" tangential to the 2008 Port of Tacoma case. *Appellant's Opening Br.* in *West v. Port of Tacoma*, Div. II Cause No. 43004-5. Emphasis provided, citations omitted, grammar original. Excerpt attached as **Ex. 2.**

The Appellant's own Opening Brief here recounts the Appellant diversionary action to file a writ of habeus corpus in federal court in response to a receiving a \$1,500 sanction in this case. Appellant Opening Br. 43-45. That particular filing resulted in the Appellant's loss of pro se litigation privileges in the Western

District of Washington. Id., CP 513-518. The Appellant also filed the state-law equivalent of a habeas writ with the Supreme Court of Washington, citing to Trial Court Judge Edwards and Port Counsel. At each extracurricular turn, including within this case, the Appellant concocted fantastical nexus to various authority figures, and personally sued those victims as well. In this case, the Appellant personally sued each of the Port of Tacoma Commissioners for Public Records Act Relief, the former Executive Director of the Port, and the Pierce County Prosecutor. Compl. 1, CP 1-7. In conducting the case, the Appellant secreted information from the Court (Tr. of July 26, 2010 Hearing, 13:11-13:21, CP 450-451), waited over one and a half years to pay sanctions in this case (Appellant's Br. 33), and, now, on appeal, expressly construes the issuance of sanctions as a sword - a license to not move the case along for a term of years, during which time, the Appellant engaged in extensive vexatious extracurricular activities to the financial detriment of the Port and others. West Opening Br. 33. In light of this record, Appellant's assertion that his only misdeed here involved filing claims duplicative of those in the 2008 Port of Tacoma case constitutes a non persuasive, unduly rose-colored recounting of the record here.

Appellate courts are loath to substitute their discretion for that of the trial court, which is what the Appellant actually requests. *A.G. v. Corporation of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle*, 162 Wn.App. 16, 25, 271 P.3d 249 (Div. 1, 2011), and cases cited therein. ("An appellate court does not substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court, but rather, looks to whether the court's exercise of discretion was manifestly unreasonable, or made for untenable reasons."); *accord State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971), *Overruled on other grounds by RCW* 71.05.390, explained by Seattle Times Co. v. Benton County, 99 Wn.2d 251, 263 661 P.2d 964 (1983).

The Supreme Court of Washington recently held such substitution of judgment to be reversible error. *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 226, 274 P.3d 336 (2012) ("We will not substitute our own judgment in evaluating the scope and effect of that misconduct").

Here, the Appellant asks that this Court engage in exactly the judgment substitution that the Supreme Court expressly prohibits. West's invitation to substitute judgment and this appeal should be summarily rejected on the grounds that the Appellant requests

relief that the Court cannot and should not grant under 168 Wn.App. 406, 423-424, and its long line of prior cases in accord.

Prior courts have "allowed discretionary dismissals for failures to appear, filing late briefs, and similarly egregious sorts of behavior." Business Services of America, 174 Wn.2d 304, 311, 274 P.3d 1025 (2012). "Failure to prosecute does not fall within CR 41 (b)(1) for example, when the plaintiff fails to prosecute that action by failing to appear at trial." *Id. citing Wallace v. Evans*, 131 Wn.2d 572, 578, 934 P.2d 662 (1997). "Such dilatoriness also occurs, for example, when there is a failure to appear at a pretrial conference in combination with general dilatoriness." Business Services of America, citing Link v. Wabash R.R., 370 U.S. 626, 82 S.Ct. 1386, 8 L.Ed.2d 734 (1962). Here, the Appellant engendered a ruling of contempt, failed to attend the hearing regarding his own contempt of court, and then ignored the ensuing ruling for years. Clerk's Memorandum of August 2, 2010, CP 355. The Appellant admits to not paying sanctions for over eighteen months. Appellant's Br. 18 ("Meanwhile in this case, time had lapsed...") Therefore, *Business* Services of America is directly on point and reinforces the propriety of the Trial Court's discretionary dismissal in this case.

The record below supports finding -at the very least- general

dilatoriness on the part of the Appellant. Public Records Act matters are entitled to efficient judicial review, because defendants are subject to a per day penalty. Here, the docket clearly demonstrates that the Appellant dragged on this Public Records Act matter for longer than three years. This delay alone constitutes "general dilatoriness" under *Link*. Appellant West has, in fact, gone well above and beyond "general dilatoriness." Inexcusable and unprofessional dilatoriness demonstrated by the Appellant in this case includes:

- The Appellant willfully scheduled sham hearing dates on noticed unavailability dates, Tr. of July 26, 2010 Hearing, 13:11-13:21, attached as Ex. 7 to Dec'l of Counsel, CP 450-451;
- The Appellant failed to pay contempt fine prerequisite to proceeding, West *Br.* 18;
- The Appellant no-showed his own contempt hearing, CP 355;
- Appellant filed for habeas corpus relief in Federal Court instead of paying his contempt fine, The West Complaint in No C10-5547 RJB, CP 483-502;
- The Appellant personally sued the judge and opposing counsel in this case, twice, Supreme Court of Washington Cause No. 84837-8 & C10-5547 RJB (W. Dist. Wash.);
- The tone and decorum of the appellant's pleadings fall below professional standards and disrespect the time of all involved parties.
 - The Appellant's dilatoriness punctuated virtually every

juncture of this litigation; exceeding the level of "general" dilatoriness. The "general" dilatoriness test adopted by the Supreme Court of Washington and most recently articulated in *Business*

Services of America comes from the Supreme Court of the United States Link v. Wabash R.R. In that case, the a party's attorney failed to move along a case, and also provided what the court found to be an inadequate excuse for missing a pretrial hearing. Link, 370 U.S. at 633. Here, the veritable laundry list of dilatory tactics and extracurricular activities employed by the Appellant tells a story of not only general dilatoriness, but also categorical and intentional dilatoriness. The Appellant's no-show at his own contempt hearing, and following years-long avoidance of paying the ensuing sanctions coupled with all other dilatoriness provided proper grounds for the Trial Court to exercise discretion to dismiss the case. See Link, viza-viz Business Servies of America, supra. The Appellant cannot show any abuse of discretion. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Trial Court.

F. Public Policy Supports Affirming the Dismissal.

Since the beginning in Washington State, the dilatory litigation and extracurricular conduct categorically demonstrated by the Appellant warranted harsh sanction. "References and comments of a personal nature...would divert attention from the points at issue". "Such objectionable matter shall be stricken from

¹⁹ At present count, Port Counsel has been involved in defending approximately one dozen of Appellant's lawsuits.

the files." *Plummer v. Weil*, 15 Wn. 427, 46 P. 648 (1896). Washington Courts are not required to powerlessly stand by and provide a forum for unacceptable litigation practices and abuse of legal process. *Wallace v. Evans*, 131 Wn.2d 572, 577, 934 P.2d 662 (1997). Courts have an inherent discretionary power to dismiss cases in order to sanction unacceptable litigation practices. *Id.* The inherent power of the court to dismiss actions for dilatoriness of prosecution was delineated in *State ex rel. Dawson v. Superior Court*, 16 Wn.2d 300, 304, 133 P.2d 285 (1943) as follows:

A court of general jurisdiction has the inherent power to dismiss pending actions if they are not diligently prosecuted, and it is its duty to do so in the orderly administration of justice. The dismissal of an action for want of prosecution, In the absence of statute or rule of court creating the power and guiding its action, is in the discretion of the court.

Gott v. Woody, 11 Wn.App. 504, 506, 524 P.2d 452 (Div. 2, 1974).20

In this state, inherent authority to dismiss provides the remedy available to the countless victims of Appellant's abuse of process, including the Respondent Port, and this remedy has been realized here through the discretion of Honorable Edwards in this case. *Order Denying Reconsideration*, CP 657-661.

²⁰ Coincidentally, the landmark decision upholding inherent dismissal powers also involved another one of the Appellant's frequent litigation targets as Respondent. *Stickney v. Port of Olympia*, 35 Wn.2d 239, 241, 212 P.2d 821 (1950): "The parties to the action are entitled to have the trial court consider and determine whether the action should be dismissed for want of prosecution independent of [CR 41 predecessor Rule]."

The Pierce County Superior Court properly remedied for Appellant's unacceptable, dilatory and vexatious litigation practices by granting the involuntary dismissal. By extension of these practices, Appellant here seeks only an impermissible second bite at the litigation apple under the guise of this appeal, where in fact the ONLY proper scope is limited to whether the Pierce County Superior Court acted in a manifestly unreasonable manner or on untenable grounds in dismissing Appellant's case in its discretion. *Puyallup v. Hogan*, 168 Wn.App. 406, 423-424, 277 P.3d 49 (Div. 2, 2012). The Court did not act unreasonable, and this appeal should be denied.

G. Appellant's Arguments Improper and or Not Persuasive.

Despite all of the above, and despite self-describing this case as "grasping at straws," the Appellant now insists that this Court do what it cannot: substitute its discretion for that of the Trial Court.

The Appellant seeks to strip the Trial Court of its inherent authority to dismiss cases and manage proceedings through several inappropriate mechanisms. This Court should reject these improper attempts.

1. Appellant's Extensive Use Of Untimely And Waived Arguments Should Be Rejected.
The Appellant untimely raised many arguments for the first

time here on appeal. RAP 2.5(a).²¹ The Appellant could have raised the new arguments before the Trial Court, but did not. Therefore, the Appellant waived certain arguments.

On appeal, Appellant seems to take issue with findings of fact included in the Order that the appellant chose to sign in open court on June 12, 2012, the same day that the case was dismissed. See Clerk's Memorandum of June 12, 2012, CP 709. The Appellant did not take exception to the order, request time to edit the order for entry on a later date, nor otherwise raise any of the arguments seen for the first time here on appeal. *Id.* Therefore, as a preliminary matter, the Appellant waived most or all of his "issues."

The First assignment of error calls out a specific Finding of Fact, 13, in the Order of Dismissal. Br. 1. Fact 13 notes that the Appellant filed PRA claims duplicative of those in the Appellant's 2008 case against the Port of Tacoma. The Appellant admits that duplicative claims existed, and then seems to argue that the

⁽a) Errors Raised for First Time on Review. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. A party or the court may raise at any time the question of appellate court jurisdiction. A party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground. A party may raise a claim of error which was not raised by the party in the trial court if another party on the same side of the case has raised the claim of error in the trial court.

inclusion of some differing PRA claims renders the statement "Mr. West also included a Public Records Act complaint in this present suit, which duplicates the requests made in his first PRR case. See West Complaint at para 4.[]2." It was "subpart" of the claim in cited Paragraph 4.2 that was dismissed as duplicative. *Order of Partial Dismissal* 4:8-11. CP 403-406. Therefore, the Appellant's issue is merely an untimely exercise in semantics. The Port has confidence that the Trial Court would have rejected this argument on the grounds identified.

The Second assignment of error concerns another waived argument. Br. 1. The Appellant correctly notes that on July 26, 2010, the Trial Court imposed a \$1,500 sanction against the Appellant. *Id.* Now, for the first time on appeal, the Appellant argues that the \$1,500 sanction should have sufficed to cure all of the Appellant's misbehaviors. *Id.* Again, the Appellant did not raise any of the arguments regarding sufficiency of the \$1,500 sanction against the Appellant before the trial court. This new argument on appeal is also symptomatic of the Appellant's rose-colored recounting of the record in this case – it ignores the satellite court actions, bar order, and missed contempt hearing that followed the issuance of the \$1,500 terms.

The Third and Fourth assignments of error regard the amazing amount of attorney fees that the Port of Tacoma taxpayers have had to pay to defend the Port against the Appellant's interconnected lawsuits, described above. The Appellant states for the first time on appeal that the 2008 case is not sufficiently entangled with this case for the Court to have considered the fees in that 2008 case. Br. 4-5. This is wrong. In addition to containing duplicative claims of the 2008 PRA case in this matter and the Appellant having admittedly filed this matter due to "flailing around" in the 2008 case, the Appellant personally sued Judge Edwards of this case and Judge Fleming of the 2008 case in the same Federal Court Complaint, and accused Judge Edwards and Judge Fleming of various conspiracies against the Appellant's civil rights. See West Complaint in No C10-5547 RJB, CP 483-502. Therefore, the Court properly considered the 2008 PRA case proceeding and all related expenditures when dismissing this case. The Appellant's untimely challenge to this factual issue should be ignored, and does not drown out or even dilute the many, many reasons the Court had to exercise inherent authority to dismiss this case.

Also on appeal for the first time, the Appellant claims that

paying \$1,500 terms imposed against the Appellant, over one year after the terms were imposed, should "purge the sanction" or otherwise limit the Trial Court's inherent authority. Br. 6.

(Appellant likely paid an amount equal to the sanction in court filing fees to litigate his bizarre tangential claims citing to the Trial Court Judge and Opposing Counsel in this case as far the Ninth Circuit, instead of paying the sanction). The Appellant did not raise nor could have sustained this new-on-appeal argument in front of the Trial Court if it had been timely raised, so the Court should decline to hear it for the first time on appeal per RAP 2.5.

Further, this Appellant argument would require the Trial Court and this Appeals Court to ignore the totality of West's multiple mis-steps which occurred **after** the sanctions were imposed in July 2010. Accepting only for argument, that West's two years late payment may have "cured" his initial misdeed, it still does not mitigate in any way the **later** laundry list of West's delay and distractions. The fact that Mr West persisted in his misconduct even after the \$1500 sanction was imposed supports the Trial Court's finding that more was needed, and that no lesser sanction than dismissal would do.

In Issue Number Nine, the Appellant dishonestly states that

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